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PKB COLLECTION

Marisa Merz
Untitled, 2011-2012
Mixed media on cardboard
101 x 71 cm

Born in Turin in 1926, in 1950 Marisa Truccato met Mario Merz whom she would later
marry, taking his surname. Her official debut in the art world was in 1966, the year she
exhibited mobile and irregular aluminium foil sculptures in her Turin studio, contrasting
the rigour of minimalism with metamorphic, enigmatic and ethereal qualities. The
distinctive hallmarks of her artwork can already be seen in these works as she prepared
to join the Art Povera movement which was beginning to develop in Turin at this time.
The only female protagonist of the movement, Marisa Merz was involved in the first
Arte Povera exhibition in 1967 curated by theorist of the movement, Germano Celant.
The exhibition was repeated at the ICA in London, in Bern and in Amalfi and, in
addition to Marisa and Mario Merz, all of the main artists that represented the new
movement took part: Giuseppe Penone, Giulio Paolini, Alighiero Boetti, Luciano Fabro,
Gilberto Zorio, Jannis Kounellis, Michelangelo Pistoletto and Pierpaolo Calzolari.
Revisiting artisan techniques like sewing and weaving, traditionally the preserve of
women, Merz, with her works made of wax, knitted copper wires and bowls, introduces
craft techniques to sculpture, giving artistic dignity to materials and practices regarded
as poor and traditional.
Around the 1970s Marisa Merz’s work became more eccentric and peculiar compared
with the Arte Povera movement and the temporal component began to take on
increasing importance. Her installations are produced from combinations of her
previous works, a kind of overlapping of material and mnemonic-affective layers.
While her first works expanded the field of installation, from the 1980s onwards Merz
produced numerous little sculptures called “heads” and various works on paper. These
pencil drawings, which sometimes also use pastels and mixed media, are portraits (or
self-portraits) in which the image emerges from an intricate tangle of symbols and the
various forms continuously absorb other forms. The female face is a constant feature of
these works. The references to depictions of the Virgin Mary in ancient art are quite
clear: from the Virgin Annunciate by Antonello da Messina to the Madonna del Rosario
by Guercino housed in the church of San Domenico in Turin, a short distance from
Merz’s home.
Marisa Merz died in Turin in 2019. Her biggest public exhibitions were held in some of
the world’s most prominent museums and institutions: Stedelijk Museum, Amsterdam
(1969 and 1996); various Venice Biennale (1972, 1980, 1988, 2001); Centre Georges
Pompidou (1981 and 1994); Documenta 7 and Documenta 9, Kassel (1982, 1992);
Castello di Rivoli (1985); Guggenheim Museum, New York (1994); Zero to Infinity, Tate
Modern, London (2001); Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York (2017). In 2013 the
Venice Biennale awarded her the Leone d’Oro career prize.
The work from the PKB Collection – Untitled, 101 x 71 cm, mixed media on cardboard,
2011-12 - was exhibited at the MASI of Lugano from September 2019 to January 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTO RS’ REPORT

Dear Shareholders,
Thankfully, many of our preoccupations at the end of 2018 proved to be unfounded. Global international trade continued to suffer
from disruptions but the escalation of the trade war between the US and China was arrested thanks to the stipulation of a trade
agreement, the first of many we hope. The general election in the UK delivered a huge Conservative majority. The timeframes of the
Brexit were clarified and the probability of a hard and chaotic exit significantly reduced. The outcome of the European elections and
the change of government in Italy calmed the political situation in the European Union while the tension in the Gulf did not destabilise
the oil market despite the attacks on Saudi oil tankers and refineries. The international uncertainty drove the Fed to make an aboutturn and take a more expansive approach. The increases in the benchmark interest rate to normalise monetary policy gave way to
downtrends and large injections of liquidity on the money market. The ECB continued to pursue an ultra-expansive policy, resuming
its purchase of bond securities even if the now permanent character of these exceptional measures raises lots of doubts over their
effectiveness. All in all, the central banks of emerging countries were also able to relax their monetary policies. The US grew at a normal
rate despite the weakness of manufacturing. The Eurozone did not enter into recession. In fact, despite the contraction suffered by
German industry, at the end of year the business data and sentiment in the Eurozone were decidedly more positive. The slowdown of
the Chinese economy was contained within the expected limits. As ever, the government’s interventionism managed to convince
international investors that almost everything is under control.
After a particularly difficult 2018, in 2019 the financial markets produced exceptional results precisely because of this feeling that danger
had been averted.
The climate outlined above was particularly favourable for risky assets. The stock markets closed the year with major upturns. The best
quality government bonds closed the year on the up thanks to the inversion of yield curves. On the currency market, the Euro/Dollar
suffered from the unfavourable interest rate spread while the Swiss Franc strengthened against the Euro.
With regard to the Bank’s performance, 2019 was a year of transition in which lots of energy was focused on continuing the synergic
projects and activities launched in previous years, some of which came to an end. In the final days of December, the Bank reached an
agreement with the Italian Inland Revenue to end the tax dispute in which it had been involved with regard to past activities carried
out on behalf of clients resident in Italy. The Bank is relieved to have put an end to the matter even if it has always operated in complete
accordance with the law. All related costs were expensed in the financial year, significantly impacting on the final results. Internally, the
end of the year was notable for an important development at executive level. Luca Venturini, who joined PKB on 1 October after a
long career with leading Swiss banks, was appointed Chief Executive Officer, taking over from Umberto Trabaldo Togna who, after
35 years with the Bank, decided to take a more strategic role and become a member of the Board of Directors.
At the end of 2019, the PKB Group accounted for CHF 12.31 billion of clients’ assets net of double counting, while the parent
company’s own funds amounted to CHF 417.92 million, with a Tier 1 Ratio of 29.35% for PKB and of 24.72% at Group level, which
place the bank and the Group at the top level in the Swiss banking market in terms of capital strength. Activities to contain operating
expenses at both PKB and Group level continued in 2019, resulting in an increase in profits compared with the previous year that
enabled it to comfortably absorb the overall expenses connected with the agreement with the Italian Inland Revenue. After prudential
provisions, PKB’s net profit as at 31.12.2019 was CHF 0.73 million while its consolidated profit was CHF 1.93 million. These results
confirm the Bank’s intrinsic solidity regardless of the extraordinary elements mentioned above and the particularly competitive context
in which the Group operates.
The Board of Directors would like to thank the Bank’s customers for the trust they have placed in PKB, the Executive Board and the
entire workforce for its devoted service and strong cooperative spirit.

On behalf of the Board of Directors
Chairman
Edio Delcò
The General Shareholders’ Meeting, having acknowledged the wishes of Edio Delcò - member of the Executive Board from 2004 to
2009, member of the Board of Directors since 2009 and Chairman of the Bank since 2017 - not to be re-elected for a new mandate,
expressed its warmest thanks to him for his fundamental contribution to the management of the Bank over this long period and
reappointed all of the other directors.
Following the Shareholders’ Meeting, the Board of Directors met to appoint Umberto Trabaldo Togna as Chairman and extend
Massimo Trabaldo Togna’s tenure as Vice Chairman.
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HIGHLIGHTS
PKB Group

AMOUNTS IN CHF /000

2019

2018

Income statement
Net revenues

123'321

115'302

-105'478

-109'857

Gross profit

17'842

5'445

Group profit

1'932

105

3'462'998

3'272'914

411'380

408'679

12'311'780

12'246'743

Tier 1 ratio

24.72%

22.69%

Capital adequacy ratio

24.72%

22.69%

463.4

484.3

of whom in Switzerland

238.7

252.3

of whom abroad

224.7

232.0

Operating expenses

Balance sheet
Balance sheet total
Gross basic shareholders’ equity
Client assets
Total client assets (net of double counting)
Capital indicators

Workforce (FTEs)
Workforce

PKB SA

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Income statement
Net revenues

68'567

74'776

-58'957

-64'323

9'610

10'453

730

3'450

2'446'290

2'325'606

417'921

417'191

Tier 1 ratio

29.35%

27.28%

Capital adequacy ratio

29.35%

27.28%

Operating expenses
Gross profit
Net profit for the year
Balance sheet
Balance sheet total
Gross basic shareholders’ equity
Capital indicators
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Scope of consolidation
PKB Privatbank SA, Lugano

Parent company

PKB Banca Privada (Panamá) SA, Panama

Subsidiary (100%)

Alasia SA, Lugano

Subsidiary (100%)

PKB Servizi Fiduciari SpA, Milan

Subsidiary (100%)

Cassa Lombarda, Milan

Subsidiary (99.57%)
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COMME NTS ON THE CO NSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
Balance sheet t o t a l

At 31.12.2019, assets totalled CHF 3.463,0 million versus liabilities of CHF 3.093,8 million;
shareholders’ equity, including net profit for the period, was consequently CHF 369.2
million. Compared with the previous year, the balance sheet total increased by CHF 190.1
million, or 5.8%.
Assets
ds

Liquid assets

This item includes cash deposits, sight deposits and those held in foreign issue banks.
They rose by CHF 350.2 million (+56%), from CHF 625,4 million to CHF 975.6 million.

Amounts due from banks

The amounts due from banks fell by CHF 28.5 million (–13.0%), from CHF 219.7 million
to CHF 191.2 million.

Amounts due from clients

Amounts due from clients decreased by 5.5 %, from
million.

Mortgage loans
Trading portfolio assets

CHF

902.9 million to

CHF

853.3

Mortgages decreased by 11.8%, from CHF 964.2 million to CHF 850.5 million.
The book value of trading assets increased from CHF 48.3 million to CHF 69.6 million.

Positive replacement values of
derivative financial instruments

Positive replacement values totalled CHF 18.3 million compared with CHF 9.1 million in
the previous year (+101.5%) and relate to transactions in derivative financial
instruments, taken out on the Bank’s own account or on behalf of clients, and represent
counterparty risk.

Financial investments

At 31.12.2019, financial investments totalled CHF 372.4 million compared with CHF
369.1 million in the previous year (+0.9 %). Investments in securities totalled CHF 8.4
million (CHF 10.6 million at 31.12.2018), while investment in fixed income securities
totalled CHF 364.1 million (CHF 358.6 million at 31.12.2018).

Main non-consolidated participations

This item mainly consists in minority shareholdings booked at cost method (see
attachment 3.7)

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets fell from CHF 78.7 million to CHF 73.8 milioni (– CHF 4.9 million,
or 6.2%). They include buildings owned by the Group, furniture, fixtures and fittings,
any capitalised renovation work, hardware and software.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets relate to the goodwill paid in the acquisitions of Cassa Lombarda Spa,
Milan.

Other assets

Other assets rose to CHF 41.5 at 31.12.2019 from CHF 38.1 million at the end of the previous
year. This item consists of the clearing account in which the revaluation of hedging
instruments is recognised, totalling CHF 15.4 million, deferred tax assets on profit (CHF
6,4 million), indirect tax receivables (CHF 9.9 million), clearing accounts (CHF 1.2 million)
and other receivables (CHF 8.6 million).

Liabilities
Amounts due to banks

Amounts due to banks fell from CHF 157.1 million to CHF 149.6 million.

Amounts due in respect of client
deposits

Amounts due in respect of client deposits increased by CHF 151.2 million, or 6.0% (CHF
2,666.7 million at 31.12.2019. CHF 2,515.6 million at 31.12.2018).

Negative replacement valuesof
derivative financial instruments

Negative replacement values totalled CHF 38.0 million compared with CHF 19.2 million
in the previous year (+98.3%) and relate to transactions in derivative financial
instruments, taken out on the Bank’s own account or on behalf of clients, and represent
a liability in respect of counterparties.

Other liabilities

At 31.12.2019 these totalled CHF 23.5 million (– CHF 0.9 million, or -3.8% compared with
the previous year). This item include indirect tax liabilities (CHF 0.5 million), clearing
accounts (CHF 11.3 million) and other payables (CHF 11.6 million).
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COMME NTS ON THE CO NSOLIDATED INCO ME STATEMENT
Revenues

The gross result from interest operations totalled CHF 29.1 million, lower compared with
the previous year (-11.2%).
The net result from interest operations, including the negative change in value
adjustments on receivables (- CHF 2.4 million) was CHF 26.7 million, higher compared
with the previous year (+ 2.1%).
The result from commission business and services amounted to CHF 77.5 million in
decrease compared with the previous year (-4.5%).
The result from trading operations totalled CHF 10.9 million compared with CHF 7.3
million at 31.12.2018 (+50.3%).
Other ordinary income came in at CHF 8.2 million compared with CHF 0.7 million in the
previous year.
Operating expenses

Operating expenses decreased on the previous year, and came in at CHF 105.5 milioni (4.0%). Personnel expenses decreased by -4.1% (CHF -3.4 million) while other operating
expenses decreased by 3.6% (CHF -1.0 million). For both entries, the decrease compared
to the previous year is mainly due to the cost reduction in PKB Privatbank SA.
Value adjustements on participations
and depreciation and
amortisation of tangible fixed
and intangible assets

The total cost amounts to CHF 7.0 mio and mainly consists in depreciation and
amortisation on tangible and intangible fixed assets, and is in decrease of CHF3.9 million
(-35.8%, compared to the previous year).
The amortisation of the goodwill of Alasia SA, Lugano and Cassa Lombarda Spa, Milano
amounted to CHF 1.6 million.

Changes in provisions and other This item decreased by CHF 7.2 million (previous year decrease of CHF 3.5 million).
value adjustments and losses
Operating result

The operating result was CHF 3.6 million, in increase of CHF 12.6 million compared with
-9.0 loss as at 31.12.2018 that was mainly due to the result of Cassa Lombarda S.p.A who
last year created an extraordinary prudential provision for a better valuation of the loans
portfolio and the improvement of the organizational structure. l

Extraordinary income

The extraordinary income was CHF 1.4 million, of which CHF 1.1 million related to the
reclassification of Anthilia Spa from the participation portfolio to the financial
investments portfolio.

Net profit for the year

Net profit for the year was CHF 1.9 million (0.1 million in 2018, affected by prudential
provisions created by Cassa Lombarda as described above.)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
Assets

AMOUNTS IN CHF

Notes

2'019

2'018

Liquid assets

975'554'880

625'360'634

Amounts due from banks

191'182'704

219'651'793

Amounts due from clients

3.2

853'305'838

902'872'320

Mortgage loans

3.2

850'457'959

964'196'428

Trading portfolio assets

3.3

69'613'413

48'266'213

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments

3.4

18'314'483

9'089'297

Financial investments

3.5

372'454'688

369'111'657

11'337'252

10'898'754

3.6, 3.7

2'520'414

2'344'897

Tangible fixed assets

3.8

73'820'130

78'690'361

Intangible assets

3.9

2'927'309

4'347'182

3.10

41'509'103

38'084'609

3'462'998'173

3'272'914'143

Accrued income and prepaid expenses
Non-consolidated participations

Other assets
Total assets
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Liabilities

AMOUNTS IN CHF

Notes

Amounts due to banks
Amounts due in respect of costumer deposits
Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments

3.4

Bond issues and central mortgage institution loans
Accrued expenses and deferred income

2'019

1998

2'018

149'646'554

157'087'412

2'666'746'680

2'515'560'381

38'021'503

19'177'948

110'800'000

87'800'000

18'914'253

17'332'376

Other liabilities

3.10

23'465'027

24'399'735

Provisions

3.16

43'618'788

42'438'062

Reserves for general banking risks

3.16

42'570'000

42'570'000

Bank’s capital

3.17

20'000'000

20'000'000

67'867'600

67'867'600

67'867'600

67'867'600

279'010'917

278'136'422

404'895

439'680

1'931'956

104'527

18'899

-34'786

3'462'998'173

3'272'914'143

Statutory capital reserve
of which tax-exempt capital contributions reserve
Voluntary retained earnings reserves
Minority interests in equity capital
Group profit
of which minority interests in group profit
Total Liabilities

CONSOLIDATED OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS
AMOUNTS IN CHF

Contingent liabilities

Notes

2'019

2'018

3.2, 3.28

62'886'226

57'309'406

Irrevocable commitments

3.2

141'007'026

171'031'405

Obligation to pay-up shares and make further contributions

3.2

5'450'706

5'382'413
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CONSO LID ATED INCO ME STATEMENT
2'019

2'018

25'925'258

30'191'172

Interest and dividend income from trading portfolios

1'073'317

1'084'550

Interest and dividend income from financial investments

3'787'942

3'394'712

-1'719'259

-1'957'276

29'067'258

32'713'157

Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from interest operations

-2'359'967

-6'553'210

Sub-total: net result from interest operations

26'707'291

26'159'947

79'237'783

82'888'856

Commission income from lending activities

1'286'425

1'628'680

Commission income from other services

7'466'373

8'322'812

Commission expense

-10'530'573

-11'694'208

Sub-total: result from commission business and services

77'460'008

81'146'141

10'911'169

7'258'443

5'227'855

1'474'906

Income from participations

194'629

796'624

Result from real estate

327'345

317'165

Other ordinary income

2'720'427

163'070

-228'158

-2'014'038

8'242'098

737'727

123'320'566

115'302'257

AMOUNTS IN CHF Notes

Result from interest operations
Interest and discount income

Interest expense
Sub-total: gross result from interest operations

Result from commission business and services
Commission income from securities trading and investment activity

Result from trading activities and fair value option

3.32

Other result from ordinary activities
Result from the disposal of financial investments

Other ordinary expenses
Sub-total: other results from ordinary activities
Net revenues
Operating expenses
Personnel expenses

3.34

-79'125'468

-82'511'447

General and administrative expenses

3.35

-26'352'708

-27'345'395

-105'478'176

-109'856'842

Value adjustments on participations and depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets and
intangible assets

-7'026'965

-10'937'854

Changes to provisions and other value adjustments and losses

-7'219'347

-3'487'925

Operating result

3'596'078

-8'980'364

Extraordinary income

1'409'419

677'951

Extraordinary expenses

0

0

Changes in reserves for general banking risks

0

5'780'000

-3'073'541

2'626'940

1'931'956

104'527

18'899

-34'786

Sub-total: operating expenses

Taxes
Group profit
of which minority interests in group profit
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Origin

2018

Use

Origin

Use

Cash flow from operating activities (internal financing)
Group profit

1'932

Changes in reserves for general banking risks
Value adjustments on participations and depreciation and amortisation of tangible
fixed assets and intangible assets
Provisions and other value adjustments
Change in value adjustments for default risks and losses

105
5'780

7'027
8'449

7'266

10'938
8'764

9'831

882

173

10'763

4'753

Non-monetary income from value adjustments to participations valued at equity
Exchange rate fluctutations on fixed assets

196
1'102

Accrued income and prepaid expenses

859
438

Accrued expenses and deferred income

1'818

1'582

Other items

787

3'655
97

1'044

Previous year’s dividend
Balance

13'787

6'832

Cash flow from shareholders’ equity transactions
Bookings recognised in reserves
Balance
Cash flow transactions in respect of participations, tangible fixed

51
51

assets and intangible assets
and intangible assets
Non-consolidated participations

79

Real estate
Other tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets

1'463

161

255

1'515

4'563

166

Net treasury acquired from Cassa Lombarda SpA
Balance

1'921

3'355

Cash flow from banking operations
Medium- and long-term business (>1 year)
Amounts due to banks

80'703

Amounts due in respect of customer deposits

13'309

Bond issues and central mortgage institution loans

23'000

Amounts due from clients
Mortgage loans

6'938
14'151
25'000

49'873

52'295

16'766

50'973

40'004

Financial investments

2'192

Short-term business
Amounts due to banks
Amounts due in respect of client deposits
Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments

73'262

44'955

164'496

147'285

18'844

6'340

Other liabilities

935

Amounts due from banks

28'469

Amounts due from clients

98'730

Mortgage loans

73'735

Trading portfolio assets

7'057
38'958
34'266
30'649

21'347

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments
Financial investments

6'542

9'225

7'472

3'424

13'092

13'422

Other assets
Balance

338'379

Total cash flows

352'166

Change in liquid assets

350'194

17

34'326
57'311
1'972

7'847
52'819

60'666

STATEMENT OF CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Bank’s
capital

Equity at start of current
period

Capital
reserve

20'000

Reserves
for general
banking
risks

67'868

42'570

Other contributions

Currency
translation
reserves

Voluntary
retained
earnings
reserve and
profit/
loss carried
forward

Own shares
(negative
item)

1'427

276'708

787

-51

Minority
interests

Result for
the period

440

Total

105

409'118

736

Currency rate differences

Dividends and other allocations
Other allocations to/
withdrawals from reserves for
general banking risks
Other allocations to/
withdrawals from other
reserves

140

-35

Profit of the period
Equity at the end of
current period

20'000

18

67'868

42'570

2'214

276'797

405

-105

1'932

1'932

1'932

411'786

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Operations and workforce
The PKB Group is present in Switzerland in Lugano, Bellinzona, Geneva, Zurich and
Lausanne, in Panama through its subsidiary PKB Banca Privada (Panama) SA and in
Milan, through Cassa Lombarda SpA. The Group’s main activities are private banking
and commercial and financial operations. At 31.12.2019, the workforce, expressed as
FTEs, was 463.4 (2018: 484.3)
The Bank undertakes all essential activities in-house and does not outsource.

2. Accounting and valuation policies applied to the consolidated annual financial statements
Consolidation policies

Fully-consolidated participations

Accounting and valuation policies
Foreign currencies and funds

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the annual financial statements
comply with the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks, and the provisions
of the Swiss Financial Markets Supervisory Authority (FINMA) Circular 2015/1
“Accounting Directives - Banks”. The consolidated financial statements provide a
true and accurate representation of the Group’s situation. Consolidation is by the
purchase method.
The consolidated financial statements include the annual financial statements of PKB
Privatbank AG, Lugano; PKB Banca Privada (Panama) SA, Panama; Cassa Lombarda
SpA, Milan; Alasia SA, Lugano and PKB Servizi Fiduciari SpA, Milan.
The accounts are presented by registration date. The criteria listed below were adopted.
Valued at year-end rates Exchange rate differences are recognised in the income statement
under “Results from trading activities and fair value option”.
The exchange rates used for the main currencies were as follows: EUR 1.08682 (2018:
1.12661)

General receivables and commitments
Trading portfolio assets

Financial investments

Not fully consolidated participations

USD

0.96847 (2018: 0.98397).

Valued at nominal value, net of value adjustments.
Valued at fair value.
Equities: valued at market value at the end of the year, but not above purchase price.
Fixed income securities: the difference between the purchase price and the value is
distributed over the years from purchase to maturity.
Holding up to 20%:
Valued at purchase price,
minus necessary amortisation.
Holding between 20% and 50%

Tangible fixed assets

Valutation at NAV:

Regardless of the size of the holding, companies that are not material to the correct valuation
of Group equity and/or income, are valued at cost minus economically necessary
amortisation.
These are booked at cost minus ordinary depreciation. Works of art are not depreciated.
All other fixed assets are shown on the balance sheet at the lower of cost and market
value. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis.
Ordinary depreciation periods and rates are as follows:
Fixed assets used by the Bank
maximum 50 years*
Renovations
maximum 20 years
Plant
Furniture
Equipment and vehicles
Hardware/Software
Intangible assets

* Maximum until the value of the land.
Other Group entities use the same depreciation rate.
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maximum 10 years
maximum 10 years
maximum 5 years
maximum 3 years
maximum 5 years

Reserves for general banking risks

Reserves for general banking risks are not taxed. The group accounting policies
applicable for the utilization of the provision differs from the Head office policies.

Intangible Assets

The intangible assets recorded on the balance sheet relate to the goodwill paid for the
acquisition of Cassa Lombarda SpA and Alasia SA.

Solvency risks

Where necessary, specific value adjustments are booked and then deducted from their
respective item under assets.

Doubtful interest

Interest and commission over 90 days overdue are not recognised in revenues, but
provisions are made for them. The loans in question are considered non-performing.

Result from trading activities and the
fair valueoption

This is recognised in the income statement before deduction of refinancing costs.

Contingent liabilities, irrevocable commitments, Off-balance sheet transactions are recorded at nominal value. Any provisions for
payment and credit commitments recognised risks are reported under the item “Provisions”.

Derivative financial instruments

Criteria applied for identifying
risks of loss and calculating
adjustments

Collateral assets for loans
Deferred tax

Risk assessment and management
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These are valued at market value, mark-to-market. The Bank’s use of derivative financial
instruments on its own behalf mainly concerns hedging transactions and marginally
trading within the limits established by internal regulation.
Credit files are analysed regularly and at least once a year.
Where necessary, depending on the risk, analysis is conducted more frequently and value
promptly, particularly for non-performing loans.
Value adjustments required for any portion of the loan not covered by guarantees are
recorded immediately.
For Cassa Lombarda, provisions for doubtful loans are recorded according to
international accounting standards
Liquidation value is calculated on the basis of market price or realised value, from which
the costs of liquidation and refinancing are deducted.
They are calculated on the reserves for general banking risk and on the valuation
differences for asset and liability entries in the individual financial statements as
compared with the consolidated financial statements.
Risk assessment and management form an integral part of the internal control system,
as required by FINMA Circular 2017/1 «Corporate governance - banks». The Board of
Directors is responsible for the Group's internal control system, for which it sets the
guidelines and periodically checks that they are sufficient and operating correctly.
The Board of Directors is supported in its duties by an Audit & Risk Committee, which
advises and makes proposals. The Executive Board is responsible for the operational
management of consolidated supervision, and in turn is supported by the Risk
Committee (RICO) and the Compliance Committee (COCO), responsible for defining
the procedures for measuring, managing and controlling risk for the PKB Group. RICO
and COCO meet at least every quarter, and have an integrated Group risk reporting
system. Internal Audit checks and assesses the internal control system, and thereby helps
to constantly refine it. In compliance with current legal requirements, the Group has
produced its own regulations for the consolidated supervision of the Group and a Risk
Appetite Framework Policy. These set out integrated guidelines for risk assessment and
management with which all Group companies must comply. The risk assessment and
management policy, which is examined every year by the Board of Directors, forms the
basis of the PKB Group’s risk management process. It is linked to a set of ceilings that
cover each identified risk category and are checked constantly, particularly with regards
to the risks set out below.

Credit risk
Credit risk is regulated by the Board of Directors through the Credit Policy and the PKB
Group Credit Regulation. The Executive Board manages credit risk through the Credit
Committee (COCR), which supervises the application of company strategies, and
analyses, in terms of quality and quantity, the solvency of counterparties and their
respective guarantees.
Credit risk is controlled by limiting risk and exposure at PKB Group level, by limiting
concentration of risk in counterparty groups (large exposures and 20 largest exposures)
and by country. Delcredere and country risk are subject to special provisions.
Supervisory capital requirements for credit risk are calculated using the international
method, with a comprehensive approach to the treatment of guarantees.
Market risk (balance sheet)
The market risk on balance sheet assets is governed by the Risk Appetite Framework Policy
with the definition of risk appetite and risk tolerance and by the Asset&Liability
Management Policy of the PKB Group approved by the Board of Directors. The Executive
Board supervises market risk through the Asset&Liability Committee (ALCO).
The interest rate risk, calculated through the Economic Value of Equity and the Net Interest
Income , is based on the standardized interest rate shock scenarios according to Circular
FINMA 2019/2 (attachment 2). The interest rate risk for customers loans or mortgages
are hedged mainly with Interest Rate Swaps according to Accounting rules and applying
the hedge accounting principles. Exchange rate risk is hedged mainly by forward rate
agreements and currency options.
Market risk (trading portfolio)
Trading portfolio management is governed by the Risk Appetite Framework Policy with the
definition of risk appetite and risk tolerance and through the PKB Group Trading Policy
approved by the Board of Directors and by directives approved by the Executive Board.
PKB Switzerland is a market maker on the primary CHF bond market, and also operates
on the forex, bond and equity markets.
The trading portfolio market risk is controlled using a system of exposure limits, the
results of which are reported to the Executive Board.
Supervisory capital requirements for market risk are calculated using the standard
method, with a delta-plus approach for options.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is regulated by the Board of Directors through the Risk Appetite Framework
Policy with the definition of risk appetite and risk tolerance, through the Asset&Liability
Management Policy and the Liquidity Regulation, both valid at PKB Group level. The
Executive Board supervises and manages liquidity risk through ALCO.
Liquidity risk is supervised in accordance with legal requirements and the results of
checks are reported in ALCO.
Operational risk
Operational risk, which includes legal and compliance risks, is managed by the Board of
Directors through the PKB Group’s Operational Policy and the Group
Legal&Compliance Policy, as well as implementing regulations, while the Executive Board
also issues directives on operational risk management:
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The strategy and business model adopted expose the Group to the following main types
of operational risk defined by FINMA Circular 2008/21 «Operational risks - banks»:
- Internal fraud: losses due to acts carried out with fraudulent intentions,
misappropriation of goods, circumvention of laws, regulations or internal provisions
with implication of at least a part internal to the company;
- External fraud: losses due to acts carried out with fraudulent intentions,
misappropriation of goods, circumvention of laws or regulations without implication of
an internal part of the company;
- Clients, products and business practices: losses arising from non-intentional or
negligent non-fulfillment of obligations towards customers and losses deriving from the
type or structure of certain products;
- Execution, delivery and management of processes: losses deriving from errors in the
execution of activities or in the management of processes and losses deriving from
relations with commercial partners and suppliers;
- Business interruptions, system failures and damage to physical assets: losses deriving
from business interruptions or problems with technical systems and deriving from
damage to physical assets due to natural disasters or other events.
The assessment of operational risks is supported by an analysis of the critical areas
present in the processes and activities carried out by the Group entities, while for the
measurement of the current operational risk the Group uses a system of quantitative and
qualitative indicators provided by the Risk Appetite Framework Policy and the minimum
standards and key controls in the area of operational risk, which include the calculation
of capital requirements according to the basic indicator approach, the analysis of
operational losses, the analysis of Key Risk Indicators and the risk self-assessment.
Specific provisions for operational risk are provided.
Operational risk management and mitigation is carried out through the following
distribution of tasks and responsibilities:
- First line of defence: owner of operational risks generated by business activities and
responsible for managing operational risks;
- Second line of defence (Group Risk Management): responsible for consolidated
supervision of the Group's operational risk.
Operational risk is monitored primarily through the verification of the qualitative and
quantitative indicators defined in the Risk Appetite Framework Policy and through the
verification of the minimum standards and key controls in the area of operational risk.
Group Risk Management also ensures a quarterly report to the CRO and RICO.
Legal risk
To prevent risks, the PKB Group ensures that its operations, particularly those likely to
have an impact on the outside world, are in line with the legal requirements and ethical
standards applying to the banking sector, and that operations and contracts involving
clients are comprehensible and transparent.
Reputational and compliance risk
Unlike compliance risks, which concern only the breach of laws and regulations, damage
to reputation can be caused by such a break or even by behaviour that the public
considers inappropriate or unacceptable, even though it is fully compliant with the law
and regulations. In order to take into account the wide range of reputational risks, the
PKB Group has produced a Charter of Values, designed to support a corporate culture
based on impeccable conduct and leading professional standards.
Compliance risks are managed through a whole series of policies and procedures that
cover all the Group’s areas of business. Given the international nature of our business,
internal rules go beyond the Swiss legal and regulatory framework, and address all crossborder activities and issues relevant to the way we serve our clients, in particular in the
areas of investment advisory services and trading on foreign financial markets.
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Strict compliance with the law, standards and internal regulations is assured through a
three-level control programme. The main responsibility for compliance with all these
rules lies with the line manager. The first level of control is mainly based on process and
workflow checks to ensure compliance with the Group’s four-eyes principle, and on an
escalation system. Ongoing training for staff at all levels is an integral part of our efforts
to mitigate reputational and compliance risks. The second level of control includes
independent checks by operating department Legal & Compliance, which reports to the
Executive Board. Risks are assessed once a year and a specific action plan is produced
to ensure compliance risks are addressed promptly and correctly. The third level of
control includes audits performed by Internal Audit, which is not an operating
department and reports to the Board of Directors. Internal Audit also carries out
independent controls.
Group policy on the use of
derivative financial instrumetns

Positions taken in derivatives are, in general, held on behalf of clients.
The PKB Group makes use of interest rate risk hedging transactions for the structural
management of the balance sheet, through interest rate swaps and forward rate
agreements.

Significant events following
the end of the financial year

Covid-19 pandemic
The recent and dramatic developments linked to the Covid-19 pandemic are generating
repercussions in the PKB Group, especially in terms of credit risk, market risk and
operational risk. In this context, the Executive Boards of the Group entities are
addressing significant attention to ensure that adequate and timely enhancement of
supervisory activities is guaranteed to allow prompt implementation of the related
mitigation and risk containment measures.
Regarding credit risk, the Covid-19 pandemic has caused significant turbulence in the
world financial markets with a consequent reduction in liquidity on the bond markets
and this has forced a strengthening of the risk monitoring activities relating to the risk
generated by Group's Lombard loans. The close monitoring activity allows to promptly
identify any deterioration of collateral with consequent requests for restoration of
guarantees. The same attention is paid to the institutional credit risk of the financial
investment portfolio as well as to the market risk of the trading portfolio for which
scrupulous compliance with the Risk Appetite and Risk Tolerance levels is guaranteed.
These risk levels are defined in the PKB Group's Risk Appetite Framework Policy
approved by the PKB Board of Directors.
The sudden materialization of the pandemic risk finally increased the level of operational
risk. Each Group entity has implemented and strengthened the emergency plans
provided for by the respective Business Continuity Plans in order to protect resources
and ensure the continuity of the operational processes of all essential services.
As regards liquidity and interest rate risk, the risk appetite levels have not been
significantly impacted.
Lastly, as part of the three-year capital planning, appropriate stress scenarios were
developed on collateral pledges for Lombard loans, on financial investments and on the
Group's trading portfolio. The Group would be able to maintain adequate capital levels
while the income capacity would clearly be reduced proportionally if these scenarios may
occur.
In this regard, it should be noted that at the moment the economic impact is difficult to
quantify given the difficulty in estimating the continuation of the duration of the crisis
and its global extension.

Changes in accounting principles
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No changes whithin the 2019 financial year.

3. Details on individual positions in the notes to the financial statements
3.1 Breakdown of securities financing transactions (assets and liabilities)
No positions at 31.12.2019
3.2 Presentation of loan collateral and off-balance
sheet transactions, as well as impaired
loans/receivable

TYPE OF COLLATERAL

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Secured by
mortgage

Other
collateral

TOTAL

Unsecured

Loans (before netting with value adjustments)
Amounts due from customers

118'811

705'087

53'049

876'947

Mortgage loans

849'018

1'465

854

851'337

- Residential property

612'846

998
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614'083

- Office and business premises

121'855

121'855

- Commercial and industrial premises

20'300

20'300

- Other

94'016

467

615

95'098

967'829

706'552

53'903

1'728'284

1'167'169

685'544

75'099

1'927'812

959'453

692'873

51'438

1'703'764

1'088'656

648'371

130'043

1'867'070

495

56'167

6'225

62'886

5'040

71'274

64'694

141'007

5'451

5'451

Total loans (prior netting with value adjustments)
Current financial year
Previous financial year
Loans (after netting with value adjustments)
Current financial year
Previous financial year
Off-balance sheet
Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable commitments
Obligation to pay-up shares and make further contribution
Off-balance sheet total
Current financial year
Previous financial year

5'535

127'440

76'369

209'344

17'990

100'140

115'593

233'723

Impaired loans
Gross debt

Estimated
realizable
value of
collateral

Net debt

Individual
realizable
value

Current financial year

63'081

36'390

26'691

24'520

Previous financial year

97'028

38'867

58'161

60'743

24

3.3 Breakdown of trading portfolio and other financial instruments at
fair value (assets and liabilities)

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Assets
Trading portfolio assets
Debt securities, money market securities/transactions
of which listed

69'614

48'257

23'659

40'624

Equity securities

10

Precious metals and commodities
Total assets

69'614

48'266

of which securities eligible to repo agreements in compliance with liquidity requirements

3.4 Presentation of derivative
financial instruments (assets and
liabilities)

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000 INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

Positive
replacement
values
Interest rate instruments

Negative
replacement
values

Contract
volume

Positive
replacement
values

17'617

14'362

314'840

1

1

208

Swap

8'507

5'253

111'163

Options (OTC)

9'108

9'108

203'469

546

7'415

890'376

71

83

10'758

476

7'332

879'618

Current financial year

18'163

21'777

1'205'216

Previous financial year

7'781
11'130
784'299
Positive replacement values

Forward contracts

Foreign exchange / Precious metals
Forward contracts
Combined interest rate/currency swaps

HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

Negative
replacement
values

Contract
volume

152

16'245

230'475

152

12'718

208'375

3'526

22'100

16'245

230'475

Options (OTC)

Equity securities/indices
Options (OTC)

Total before netting agreement

Total after netting

152

1'308
8'084
278'518
Negative replacement values

(cumulative)

(cumulative)

Current financial year

18'315

38'022

Previous financial year

9'089

19'178

Central clearing houses

Breakdown by counterparty
Positive replacement values
(after netting agreements)

Banks and securities
dealers

Other customers

18'162
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3.5 Breakdown of financial
investments

Book value

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Fair value

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

364'093

358'560

369'780

384'856

276'000

358'560

281'129

384'856

Debt securities
of which intended to be held to maturity
of which not intended to be held to maturity

88'093

Equity securities

8'362

of which qualified participations

88'651
10'552

10'280

1'373

12'528

1'373

Precious metals
Real estate
Total
of which securities eligible for pensions under liquidity rules

From AAA
up to AA-

Breakdown of counterparties by rating
Debt securities: Book values

From A+
up to A–

175'350

3.6 Presentation of
participations

372'455

369'112

380'060

397'384

27'350

31'162

27'991

31'364

From BBB+ From BB+
up to BBB– up to B–

32'746

93'196

Less than B– No rating

23'985

5'566

33'250

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Acquisition
cost

Accumulated Book value Transfers
value
at 31.12.2018
adjustments
and/or
changes in
book value
(valuation
using the
equity
method)

Investments Disposals

Value
Changes in
Book Value Market
adjustments book value
at 31.12.2019 value
in the case
of
participations
valued
using
the equity
method

Other participations
Not listed

2'345

2'345

-1'540

1'620

-1

97

2'520

n/a

Total participations

2'345

2'345

-1'540

1'620

-1

97

2'520

n/a
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3.7 Disclosure of companies in which the bank
holds a permanent direct or indirect significant
participation

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Business
activity

Currency

Bank’s
capital

Share of
capital

Share of
votes

Held
directly

PKB Banca Privada (Panama) SA, Panamá

Bank

USD

10'000

100.00%

100.00%

10'000

Cassa Lombarda S.p.A.

Bank

EUR

18'000

99.57%

99.57%

17'922

Alasia SA, Lugano

Asset
management

CHF

500

100.00%

100.00%

500

PKB Servizi Fiduciari SpA, Milan

Fiduciary

EUR

240

100.00%

100.00%

240

Six Group AG, Zurich

Market
CHF
infrastructure

19'522

0.01%

0.01%

3

Aduno Holding SA, Zurich

Holding
company

CHF

25'000

0.28%

0.28%

70

Pfandbriefbank, Zurich

Bank

CHF

900'000

0.14%

0.14%

1'283

Fenera & Partners SGR S.p.A.

Asset
management

EUR

1'000

2.50%

2.50%

25

Fully consolidated participations

Unconsolidated participations

3.8 Presentation of tangible
fixed assetsi
Acquisition
cost

Bank premises

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019
Accumulated Book
depreciation value at
31.12.2018

Changes to
Transfers
the scope of
consolidation

Investments Disposals

102'394

-51'170

51'224

Other properties

9'954

-3'492

6'462

Proprietary or
separately
acquired software

7'363

-5'243

2'120

460

Other tangible fixed
assets

73'572

-54'688

18'884

1'054

193'283

-114'593

78'690

1'676

Total tangible
fixed
assets
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162

-756

Depreciation Appreciation Book
value at
31.12.2019

-2'400

48'230
6'462

-1'004

1'576

-346

-2'040

17'552

-1'102

-5'445

73'820

3.9 Presentation of intangible
assets
Acquisition
cost

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Accumulated Book
amortisation value at
31.12.2018

2019
Changes to
Transfers
the scope of
consolidation

Investments Disposals

Amortisation Appreciation Book
value at
31.12.2019

Goodwill

91'938

-87'591

4'347

165

-1'585

2'927

Total intangible
assets

91'938

-87'591

4'347

165

-1'585

2'927

3.10 Breakdown of other assets and other liabilities

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Other assets
Compensation account

2018

Other
liabilities

Other assets

15'406

Other
liabilities

5'554

Deferred income taxes recognised as assets

6'393

10

8'831

6

Clearing / transitory accounts

1'240

11'321

1'843

2'511

Indirect taxes

9'917

500

10'848

580

Other receivables and liabilities

8'554

11'634

11'008

21'303

41'509

23'465

38'084

24'400

Total

3.11 Disclosure of assets pledged or assigned to secure own
commitments and assets under reservation of ownership

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Book values
Assets pledged / assigned
Margin accounts
Bonds given as collateral to banks
Mortgages used to guarantee loans from central mortgage bond institutions

3.12 Disclosure of liabilities relating to own pension schemes,
and number and nature of equity instruments of the bank held by
own pension schemes
Total

Effective commitments

35'084

35'084

197'127

185'685

176'949

110'800

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

18'254

2018

21'913

The Bank’s employees are registered with an autonomous and independent pension fund in accordance with the law on occupational pensions in Switzerland
(LPP). Regulations require the use of defined contributions schemes. Pension liabilities are calculated each year by an actuary. The Bank accounts for its
contributions to the employees’ occupational pension scheme as expenses for the financial year concerned.
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3.13 Disclosure on the economic situation of own pension schemes

Employer contribution reserves (ECR)

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Nominal
value at
31.12.2019

Waiver at
31.12.2019

Net
amount at
31.12.2019

Net
amount at
31.12.2018

LPP pension fund for employees of PKB Privatbank
AG

1'300

1'300

1'300

Total

1'300

1'300

1'300

Presentation of the economic benefit/
obligation and the pension expenses

Impact of ECR on
personnel expenses
2019

2018

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Overfunding/

Economic share of the bank
and/or the financial group

underfunding
at 31.12.2019
2019

Change in
economic
share in
reporting
year

Contributions Pension charges within
personnel expenses
paid for
the reporting
period

2018

2019

2018

With overfunding

18'718

4'711

4'289

4'748

Total

18'718

4'711

4'289

4'748

For each pension plan, the Bank must determine whether reserve levels and the particular circumstances of the pension fund give rise to a surplus or a shortfall. The
assessment is based on the financial position at 31 December 2018 and the change in the financial position over 2019.
Based on the estimates received from the pension fund, the reserve levels in accordance with art. 44 OPP2 (Ordinanza sulla previdenza professionale –
Occupational Pension Order) were 111.8% (2018: 109.2%).
Employees of foreign companies:
Employees of foreign companies that are part of the Group (FTE 226) have pension cover in their respective countries, in accordance with local laws.

3.14 Presentation of issued structured products
The Bank did not issue any structured products over the year.

3.15 Presentation of bonds outstanding issues and mandatory convertible bonds
There were no outstanding bond issues at 31.12.2019
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3.16 Presentation of value adjustments, provisions, reserves for general
banking risks and changes therein during the current year
Balance at
31.12.2018

Use in
conformity
with
designated
purpose

Transfers

Provisions for deferred
taxes

12'382

Provisions for pension
benefit obligations

2'472

-329

Other provisions
Total provisions

27'584
42'438

-4'919
-5'248

Reserves for general
banking risks

42'570

Value adjustment for
default and country
risks
of which, value adjustments
for default risks in respect
of impaired loans/
receivables
of which value adjustments
for latent risks

IMPORTI IN CHF/000

Currency rate Past due
differences
interest,
recoveries

New
provisions
charged to
the income
statement

5

Releases to
the income
statement

8

-5

-19

32

-163
-182

8'621
8'661

Balance at
31.12.2019

-203

12'192
2'156

-1'847
-2'050

29'271
43'619
42'570

61'347

-36'931

-2'348

-54

3'284

-173

25'125

60'743

-36'931

-2'348

-54

3'284

-173

24'521

604

604

The item “Other provisions” includes CHF 13.2 million allocated to the retention plan, CHF 15.3 million for legal/tax risks and CHF 0.8 million to hedge
country risk.
Contingent liabilities whose outcome can be estimated were allocated on the basis of the best available estimate. Provisions are booked at the nominal
amount without applying the discount rate.
3.17 Presentation of bank’s
capital

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Total

2018

Number

Capital

Total

Number

Capital

nominal

of ordinary

value

shares

eligible for

nominal

of ordinary

eligible for

dividend

value

shares

dividend

Share capital (full paid)

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

Total share capital

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

At 31.12.2019 there were no voluntary restrictions on the distributable nature of reserves.
3.18 Number and value of equity securities or options on equity securities held by all executies and directors and by
employees and disclosures on any employee participation schemes

The Bank had no employee participation schemes at 31.12.2019
3.19 Disclosure of amounts
due from/to related parties

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

AMOUNTS
DUE FROM
31.12.2019

Holders of qualified participations

4'730

Group companies
Affiliates

AMOUNTS
DUE TO

31.12.2018

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

998

24'329

15'569

20

307

128

1

4'158

4'216

Transactions with members of governing bodies

1'903

2'226

4'007

10'072

Other related parties

1'090

2'162

18'545

41'312

Loans to members of governing bodies are granted under the same conditions applied to Bank employees.
Transactions with affiliates are conducted under arm’s length conditions, and relate to securities transactions, payment traffic and treasury transactions.
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3.20 Disclosure of holders of significant
participations

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

31.12.2019
Nominal

with voting rights: Auriga SA, Luxembourg

31.12.2018
%

20'000

Nominal
100.00

%

20'000

100.00

“There is no conditional capital, and there are no significant shareholders without voting rights.
Luxembourg company Auriga S.A. holds 100% of the Bank’s share capital. The voting rights of the latter are controlled indirectly, for 51.844%, by the
family of the late Serafino Trabaldo Togna. Further significant shareholdings are held by the heirs of the late Achille Trabaldo Togna and Piero Trabaldo Togna.”
3.20 Disclosure of holders of significant
participations

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

31.12.2019
Nominal

with voting rights: Auriga SA, Luxembourg

31.12.2018
%

20'000

Nominal
100.00

%

20'000

100.00

At 31.12.2019 neither the Group nor its subsidiaries held any treasury shares.
3.22 Disclosures in accordance with the ordinance against excessive compensation with respect to listed stock corporations and
article 663c paragraph 3 CO for banks whose equity securities are listed

Not applicable
3.23 Presentation of maturity structure of financial instruments

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

MATURITY
At Sight

Cancellable

Within 3
months

3-12 months

1-5 years

over 5 years

No maturity

Balance at
31.12.2019

Current assets/ Financial
instruments
Liquid assets

975'555

Amounts due from banks

163'164

3'619

24'315

85

Amounts due from clients

334'681

116'452

76'046

126'552

129'682

69'894

853'306

3'250

430'065

12'227

17'387

121'432

266'097

850'458

Mortgage loans

975'555
191'183

Trading portfolio assets

69'613

69'613

Positive replacement values of
derivative financial instruments

18'314

18'314

Financial investments

7'845

16'687

17'252

226'209

104'462

372'455

Total at 31.12.2019

1'572'423

550'136

129'275

161'275

477'323

440'453

3'330'884

Total at 31.12.2018

1'308'546

601'598

158'599

178'664

462'351

428'790

3'138'548

1'162

75'010

64'490

149'647

15'773

126

13'196

2'666'747

Debt capital/ financial
instruments
Amounts due to banks
Amounts due in respect of client
deposits

8'985
2'537'698

Negative replacement values of
derivative financial instruments

99'954

38'022

38'022

Mortgages from issuers of
mortgage bonds and loans
Total at 31.12.2019

2'584'705

99'954

16'934

Total at 31.12.2018

2'514'996

4'242

890
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75'136

18'000

92'800

110'800

95'685

92'800

2'965'215

186'698

72'800

2'779'626

3.24 Presentation of assets and liabilities, by
domestic and foreign origin in accordance with
the domicile principle

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Switzerland Abroad

Switzerland Abroad

Assets
Liquid assets

788'980

186'575

464'914

160'447

Amounts due from banks

60'158

131'025

94'327

125'325

Amounts due from clients

175'475

677'831

187'098

715'774

Mortgage loans

730'622

119'836

796'212

167'984

Trading portfolio assets

69'613

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments

48'266

7'980

10'334

5'491

3'598

39'105

333'350

44'836

324'276

Accrued expenses and deferred income

9'770

1'568

10'327

571

Non-consolidated participations

2'471

49

754

1'591

49'346

24'474

51'588

27'103

2'761

166

4'347

16'313

25'196

6'874

31'210

1'882'980

1'580'018

1'666'768

1'606'145

5'679

143'968

8'008

149'079

585'482

2'081'265

595'832

1'919'728

9'564

28'458

5'576

13'602

Financial investments

Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Amounts due to banks
Amounts due in respect of client deposits
Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments
Mortgages from issuers of mortgage bonds and loans
Accrued expenses and deferred income

110'800

87'800

17'532

1'382

17'084

248

1'331

22'134

3'152

21'248

Provisions

37'752

5'866

35'843

6'595

Reserves for general banking risks

42'570

42'570

Bank’s capital

20'000

20'000

Statutory capital reserve

67'868

67'868

Other liabilities

Earnings reserve

295'625

Minority interests in equity capital

-16'614

287'170

405

Group profit
Total liabilities
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-9'035
440

-2'024

3'956

7'814

-7'709

1'192'178

2'270'820

1'178'717

2'094'196

3.25 Breakdown of total assets by country or group of
countries

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

Assets

2018
%

Italy

%

1'099'691

31.76

1'062'753

32.47

363'930

10.51

412'962

12.62

Other countries in the Americas (non-OECD countries)

44'142

1.27

91'882

2.81

Other countries

72'255

2.09

38'548

1.18

Total receivables abroad

1'580'018

45.63

1'606'145

49.07

Switzerland

1'882'980

54.37

1'666'768

50.93

3'462'998

100.00

3'272'913

100.00

Other OECD countries

Total assets

3.26 Breakdown of total assets by credit rating
of country groups (risk domicile)

Bank’s country rating

Moody’s

1-2

Aaa – AA3

3

A1 – A3

4

Baa1 – Baa3

5

Net foreign exposure
31.12.2019
in CHF /000

Net foreign exposure
31.12.2018
% in CHF /000

%

1'509'321

98.31%

1'513'533

96.71%

2'799

0.18%

3'970

0.25%

13'440

0.88%

16'436

1.05%

Ba1 – Ba3

5'100

0.33%

1'673

0.11%

6

B1 – B3

2'172

0.14%

3'659

0.23%

7

Caa1 – C

768

0.05%

339

0.02%

0

No rating

1'737

0.11%

25'437

1.63%

1'535'337

100.00%

1'565'047

100.00%

Total assets

The Bank measures country risk using Swiss Export Risk Insurance (SERV) ratings. These are compared with Moody’s ratings in the table above.
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3.27 Presentation of assets and liabilities broken down
by the most significant currencies for the Bank

CURRENCIES (equivalent in CHF/000)
CHF

EUR

USD

Other

Total

Assets
Liquid assets

787'826

187'365

172

192

975'555

Amounts due from banks

14'185

54'108

81'467

41'423

191'183

Amounts due from clients

132'076

626'068

70'710

24'452

853'306

Mortgage loans

730'622

119'836

Trading portfolio assets

45'502

850'458
23'856

256

69'613

1

18'313

Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments

18'312

Financial investments

44'103

313'618

14'734

Accrued expenses and deferred income

8'490

1'885

899

Non-consolidated participations

2'471

49

0

2'520

48'174

22'159

3'487

73'820

2'761

166

15'971

24'969

327

242

41'509

1'804'991

1'395'726

195'651

66'630

3'462'998

23'905

658'158

225'410

11'220

918'692

1'828'896

2'053'884

421'061

77'850

4'381'690

926

146'291

96

2'334

149'647

388'525

1'840'937

386'956

50'329

2'666'747

Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets
Delivery entitlements from spot exchange, forward forex and forex
option transactions
Total assets at 31.12.2019

372'455
63

11'337

2'927

Liabilities
Amounts due to banks
Amounts due in respect of client deposits
Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments
Mortgages from issuers of mortgage bonds and loans
Accrued expenses and deferred income

38'010

11

38'022

110'800

110'800

15'444

2'170

1'277

732

22'116

617

Provisions

37'752

5'867

Reserves for general banking risks

42'570

42'570

Bank’s capital

20'000

20'000

Statutory capital reserve

67'868

67'868

279'011

279'011

405

405

1'932

1'932

Other liabilities

Earnings reserve
Minority interests in equity capital
Group profit
Total liabilities
Delivery commitments from spot exchange, forward forex and forex
option transactions
Total liabilities at 31.12.2019
Net position per currency
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23

18'914
23'465
43'619

1'003'975

2'017'381

388'956

52'686

3'462'998

813'109

50'269

30'800

24'543

918'722

1'817'083

2'067'651

419'756

77'229

4'381'720

11'813

-13'767

1'304

620

-30

3.28 Breakdown and explanation of
contingent liabilities and liabilities

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

Guarantees to secure credits and similar

2018
50'566

46'212

Irrevocable commitments resulting from documentary letters of credit

2'734

3'114

Other contingent liabilities

9'586

7'983

62'886

57'309

Total contingent liabilities

3.29 Breakdown of credit commitments
There were no credit commitments at 31.12.2019

3.30 Breakdown of fiduciary transactions

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Fiduciary investments with other banks

221'309

151'740

Total fiduciary transactions

221'309

151'740

3.31 Breakdown of managed assets and presentation of their development

a) Breakdown managed assets

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Type of asset
Assets held in self-managed collective investment schemes

738'188

742'933

Asset under discretionary asset management agreements

4'203'145

4'160'880

Other managed assets

7'263'983

7'353'467

12'205'316

12'257'280

of which double counting

692'908

726'383

Commercial clients – Custody only

799'372

715'846

Sub-total: other client assets

799'372

715'846

13'004'688

12'973'126

Sub-total: managed assets (incl. double counting)

Total client assets (incl. double counting)
b) Presentation of the development of managed assets AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Total managed assets (incl. double counting) at start of period
+/– Net new money inflow or net new money outflow
+/– Change in market prices, interest, dividends and exchange rates
+/– Other effects*
Total managed assets (incl. double counting) at end of period

2019

2018

12'257'280

12'728'241

-580'312

-37'150

538'088

-279'091

-9'740

-154'720

12'205'316

12'257'280

* At 31.12.2019, the item «Other effects» corresponds to the outflow of Tredia Sub-Funds from the managed funds perimeter.
Other managed assets includes all client assets (private, commercial and institutional) held for investment on which the Bank receives commission
and/or fees in addition to custody fees and other account-keeping expenses.
All other assets held in custody by the Bank that do not meet the above criteria are considered “custody only”.
Assets under management are client assets managed in accordance with the profile chosen by the client. Receivables due from clients are not
deducted from total managed assets.
Net contributions/withdrawals include actual inflows and outflows of client funds and assets but do not include the performance of securities or
currencies, interest, charges, commission or dividends.
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3.32 Breakdown of the result from trading activities and the fair value option
a) Breakdown by business area (based on the organisation
of the bank and/or the financial group)

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Trading with mixed transactions

2019

10'903

7'275

8

-17

10'911

7'258

Group companies subject to FINMA money laundering supervision
Total result from trading activities
b) Breakdown by underlying risk and application
of the fair value option

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2018

2019

2018

Result from trading activities from:
- Interest rate instruments

3'674

1'655

- Equity securities (incl. funds)

1'908

-30

- Currencies

5'301

5'586

- Commodities/precious metals

28

47

Total result from trading activities

10'911

7'258

3.33 Disclosure of material refinancing income in the item «interest and discount income» as well as
material negative interest
The Bank refinances itself by the central mortgage istitution "Pfandbriefbank AG". As at 31.12.2019 the total liability was CHF 110.8 million
and the related interests expenses for the excercice 2019 was 0.2 million.
«Income from interest and discounts» includes negative interest of CHF 2.2 million.
3.34 Breakdown of personnel expenses

2019

2018

Remuneration (attendance fees, fixed compensation to members of the Bank’s governing
bodies, salaries and allowances)

59'456

61'280

Benefits

13'574

14'094

6'094

7'138

79'125

82'511

Other personnel expenses
Total personnel expenses

3.35 Breakdown of general and administrative expenses

2019

2018

Building occupancy expenses

3'167

3'683

IT and telecommunications technology expenses

6'517

5'890

Expenses for vehicles, equipment, furniture and other fixtures, and operating leases

542

797

Audit fees (art. 961a no. 2 CO)

527

833

527

833

Sundry operating expenses

15'600

16'142

Total other operating expenses

26'353

27'345

- of which f or statutory and regulatory audits
- of which other services
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3.36 Explanations regarding material losses, extraordinary income and expenses, as well as material releases of hidden
reserves, reserves for general banking risks and value adjustments and provisions no longer required
The extraordinary results are mostly due, for an amount of CHF 1.1 million, to the revaluation of Anthilia SpA following the transfer from the
participation portfolio to financial investments portfolio. The remaining CHF 0.3 million are related to coningent assets.
3.37 Disclosure of and reasons for revaluations of participations and tangible fixed assets up to acquisition cost
In the course of the year we revalued the participaton of SIX Group AG at purchase cost.
The revaluation generated an extraordinary income of CHF 0.1 million.
3.38 Presentation of the operating result, broken
down according to domestic and foreign origin,
according to the principle of permanent
establishment

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2018

Switzerland Abroad

Switzerland Abroad

Net result from interest operations

15'661

11'046

20'455

5'705

Result from commission business and services

43'407

34'053

47'562

33'584

Result from trading activities

8'272

2'639

6'023

1'236

Other result from ordinary activities

1'931

6'311

633

105

Income for the period

69'271

54'049

74'673

40'630

Personnel expenses

-49'342

-29'784

-52'525

-29'987

Material expenses

-11'103

-15'250

-12'310

-15'035

Operating expenses

-60'444

-45'034

-64'835

-45'022

8'827

9'015

9'838

-4'393

Operating profit

3.39 Presentation of current taxes, deferred
taxes, and disclosure of tax rate

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2018

Tax rate

Tax rate

Current tax expense *

8.3%

1'483

19.4%

2'008

Deferred tax expense

30.7%

1'591

27.6%

-4'635

Extraordinary Items
Total tax

3'074

* Average rate applied to operating profit.
The 2018 defferred taxes release refers to the release of the general banking reserve release on the result of Cassa Lombarda.
3.40 Disclosure and explanations on the earnings per equity security in the case of listed banks

The Bank’s shares are not listed.
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Deloitte SA
Via Ferruccio Pelli 1
Casella Postale 5520
6901 Lugano
Svizzera
Telefono: +41 (0)58 279 9400
Fax: +41 (0)58 279 9500
www.deloitte.ch

Report of the Statutory Auditor
To the General Meeting of Shareholders of
PKB PRIVATBANK SA, Lugano
Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Statements
As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of
PKB PRIVATBANK SA, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income
statement, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and notes (pages 14 - 37 of the financial report) to the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019.
Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the provisions governing the preparation of financial statements for
banks and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing
Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

PKB PRIVATBANK SA
Report of the Statutory Auditor on the
consolidated Financial Statements
to the General meeting of shareholders
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows
in accordance with Swiss accounting principles applicable for Banks and comply with Swiss
law.
Other matter
The consolidated financial statements of PKB PRIVATBANK SA for the year ended 31
December 2018 were audited by another auditor, whose unmodified opinion was issued on 24
April 2019.
Report on Other Legal Requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no
circumstances incompatible with our independence.
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.
Deloitte SA

Alexandre Buga

Pietro Di Fluri

Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Licensed Audit Expert

Lugano, 25 March 2020
AB/PDF/dbo
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COMME NTS ON THE BALANCE SHEET
Balance sheet total

At 31.12.2019 assets totalled CHF 2,446.3 million versus liabilities of CHF 2,077.1 million;
shareholders’ equity, including net profit for the period, was consequently CHF 369.2 million.
The balance sheet total increased by CHF 120.7 million, or 5,2% compared with the previous
year.
Assets
Liquid assets

This item includes cash deposits and amounts due from the SNB. The total of CHF 788.9
million covers the legal requirement for primary liquidity.

Amounts due from banks

The amounts due from banks fell by CHF 28.6 million (-13.5%), from CHF 211.3 million to CHF
182.7 million. These were mainly funds deposited with major banks in OECD countries.
Notice deposits totalled CHF 28.9 million while sight deposits amounted to CHF 153.8 million.

Amounts due from clients

Amounts due from clients decreased by 18.2%, from CHF 543.8 million to CHF 444.8 million.

Mortgage loans
Trading portfolio assets
Positive replacement values
of derivative financial instruments

Mortgage loans decreased by 8.2%, from CHF 796.2 million to CHF 730.6 million.
At 31.12.2019 the Bank did not have any open positions within the trading portfolio
Positive replacement values totalled CHF 18.3 million compared with CHF 9.1 million in the
previous year (+101.9%) and relate to transactions in derivative financial instruments, taken
out on the Bank’s own account or on behalf of clients, and represent counterparty risk.

Financial investments

At 31.12.2019, financial investments totalled CHF 96.4 million, compared with CHF 121.0 million
in the previous year (-20,3%). Investments in funds totalled CHF 5.8 million (CHF 10.2 million
at 31.12.2018), while investments in fixed income securities amounted to CHF 89.3 million (CHF
110.8 million at 31.12.2018). Consequently to Anthilia’s reclassification from participations to
financial investments portfolio, invesments in shares amount to CHF 1.4 million (no
investments as at 31.12.2018).

Main participations

The Bank owns the entire share capital of PKB Banca Privada (Panama) SA and Alasia SA,
Lugano. Moreover it owns 99.56% of Cassa Lombarda Spa, Milan and directly owns 70% of
PKB Servizi Fiduciari SpA.
It also has minority shareholdings in Aduno SA, Zurigo (0.28%), Six Group AG, Zürich
(0.015%) and Pfandbriefbank AG, Zurigo (0.14%) and Fenera & Partners SGR SpA, Torino
(2.5%)

Tangible fixed assets

These fell from CHF 26.5 million to CHF 25.8 million (- CHF 0.7 million, or -2.5%).
They include buildings owned by the Bank, furniture, fixtures and fittings, any capitalised
renovation work, hardware and software.

Intangible assets
Other assets
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At 31.12.2019 the bank did not hold any intangible asset.
Other assets increased to CHF 12.1 million at 31.12.2019, from CHF 7.3 million at the end
of the previous year. This item mainly consists of the clearing account where the
revaluation of hedging instruments is registered (CHF 10.4 million) and of pure clearing
accounts (CHF 1.2 milioni).

Liabilities
Amounts due to banks

Amounts due to banks rose from
(+70.7%).

CHF

91.9 million to

CHF

156.9 million

Amounts due in respect of client
deposits

These rose by CHF 11.2 million, or 0.7% (CHF 1,677.9 million at 31.12.2019,
CHF 1,666.7 million at 31.12.2018).

Negative replacement values
of derivative financial instruments

Negative replacement values totalled CHF 38.0 million compared with CHF 19.2 million in the
previous year (+98.3%) and relate to transactions in derivative financial instruments, taken
out on the Bank’s own account or on behalf of clients, and represent a liability in respect of
counterparties.

Bond issues and central mortgage
institutions loans
Other liabilities

Shareholders’ equity
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They include loans due to Pfandbriefbank AG, Zurigo. At 31.12.2019 they totalled CHF 110.8
million (+23.0 million,or +26.2% compared with the previous year.)
At 31.12.2019 these totalled CHF 2.2 million (- CHF 0.9 million compared with the previous
year). This item includes engagements due to indirect taxes (CHF 0.5 million) and the pure
clearing accounts (CHF 1.7 million).
Shareholders’ equity on the balance sheet totalled CHF 368.5 million (excluding reserves
for general banking risks and net profit for the year), up on the figure of CHF 365.0 million
in the previous year. The increase is related to the net profit for 2018.

COMMENTS ON THE INCOME STATEMENT
Revenues

Looking at the various aggregates of the income statement, we see that the gross result
from interest operations was CHF 17.2 million, down by 14.0% compared to the previous
year (CHF 20.0 million) as the main result of the smaller volume of liquidity in USD
available for treasury activities. The negative change in value adjustments for risks of loss
and losses from interest operations made this year (- CHF 1.6 million) compared with a
positive change recorded last year in the amount of approximately CHF 0.4 million meant
that the net result from interest operations settled at CHF 15.7 million, in decrease of 23.4%
compared with the previous year (CHF 20.4 million).
The
result
from
commission
business
and
services
decreased
(-10.4%): the result was negatively affected by securities trading and investment activity
(-9.2%), commission income from other services (-14.9%) and the negative change in fees
for credit transactions (-34.6%) which were only partially offset by the reduction in
commission expense (-10.2%).
The reduction in commission income is due in particular to the less marginality on client
assets that, despite an increase of 2.6% (mainly due to the 2019 market’s performance
effect), show a different asset mix compared to 2018.
The result from trading operations totalled CHF 8.3 million, higher compared to CHF 6.0
million in the previous year (+36.8%): securities trading had good performance (+ 166%
compared to the previous year) while trading on currencies and precious metals (-2.7%)
remains stable on last year’s levels.
Other results from ordinary activities amounted to CHF 1.9 million, on the rise compared
with CHF 0.7 million in the previous year. Result from the disposal of financial investments
(CHF 1.37 million), income from participations (CHF 0.2 million) and result from real estate
(CHF 0.3 million) had a positive impact.
Total revenues break down as follows:
22.8%
net result from interest operations
62.3%
result from commission business and services
12.1%
result from trading activities
2.8%
result from other ordinary activities.
Operating expenses

Operating expenses decreased by 8.3% compared with the previous year.
Personnel expenses decreased by 7.7%, to CHF 47.0 million (CHF 50.9 million in 2018).
The decrease is due in particular to the decrease in the number of employees (in FTE).
Other operating expenses decreased by 10.6% to CHF 12.0 million (CHF 13.4 million in
2018).

Value adjustments on participations The total cost decreased by 61.3% compared with the previous year, mainly due to the full
and depreciation and amortisation depreciation of investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets.
of tangible fixed assets
and intangible assets
Changes in provisions and other The net change shows a loss of CHF 6.2 million, mainly due to taxes relating to the Italian
value adjustments and losses authorities’ investigations.
Operating result

Extraordinary income
Profit for the year
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The operating result of the year amounted to CHF 1.3 million, in decrease of 73.5%
compared to the previous year (CHF 5.1 million), mainly because of the investigatons
mentioned above.
Extraordinary income amounted to CHF 0.7 million, mainlyto be attributed to Anthilia’s
reclassification from strategic participation to financial investment.

Net profit for the year was CHF 0.7 million; this compared to CHF 3.5 million of previous
year, i.e a decrease of 78.8%.

BALANCE SHEET
Assets

AMOUNTS IN CHF Notes

2019

2018

Liquid assets

788'937'933

464'807'470

Amounts due from banks

182'715'803

211'317'944

Amounts due from clients

3.1

444'796'065

543'809'615

Mortgage loans

3.1

730'621'822

796'211'972

0

0

18'340'427

9'085'262

Trading portfolio assets
Positive replacement values of derivative financial instruments
Financial investments

3.3

96'444'298

121'049'648

Accrued expenses and deferred income

3.4

8'954'481

9'508'823

137'596'463

136'041'343

25'798'139

26'462'063

0

0

12'084'366

7'311'435

2'446'289'798

2'325'605'575

Participations
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible assets
Other assets

3.5

Total assets
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Liabilities

AMOUNTS IN CHF Notes

Amounts due to banks
Amounts due in respect of customer deposits
Negative replacement values of derivative financial instruments

3.3

Bond issues and central mortgage institution loans
Accrued expenses and deferred income

2019

2018

156'848'792

91'899'665

1'677'882'981

1'666'703'886

38'017'904

19'177'041

110'800'000

87'800'000

17'111'298

16'350'578

Other liabilities

3.5

2'156'331

3'063'277

Provisions

3.9

25'551'694

23'420'294

Reserves for general banking risks

3.9

48'700'000

48'700'000

3.10

20'000'000

20'000'000

67'867'600

67'867'600

67'867'600

67'867'600

Statutory retained earnings reserve

41'000'000

41'000'000

Voluntary retained earnings reserve

219'000'000

218'000'000

Profit carried forward

20'623'234

18'172'793

Net profit for the year

729'963

3'450'441

2'446'289'798

2'325'605'575

Bank’s capital
Statutory capital reserve
of which tax-exempt capital contributions reserve

Total Liabilities

OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS
AMOUNTS IN CHF Notes

2019

2018

Contingent liabilities

3.1

46'614'603

40'504'151

Irrevocable commitments

3.1

8'287'651

10'924'351

Obligation to pay-up shares and make further contribution

3.1

5'450'706

5'382'413
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INCOME STATEMENT
AMOUNTS IN CHF Notes

2019

2018

Result from interest operations
Interest and discount income
Interest and dividend income from trading portfolios

17'622'246

20'302'516

235'237

102'630

Interest and dividend income from trading portfolios

1'010'483

1'298'089

Interest expense

-1'630'705

-1'667'729

Sub-total: gross result from interest operations

17'237'261

20'035'506

Changes in value adjustments for default risks and losses from interest operations

-1'577'468

402'744

Sub-total: net result from interest operations

15'659'792

20'438'250

44'065'516

48'526'534

Result from com m ission business and services
Commission income from securities trading and investment activity
Commission income from lending activities

591'554

904'640

Commission income from other services

6'096'815

7'163'017

Commission expense

-8'041'239

-8'949'314

Sub-total: result from com m ission business and services

42'712'647

47'644'878

8'263'550

6'039'851

Result from trading activities and fair value option

3.16

Other result from ordinary activities
Result from the disposal of financial investments

1'369'741

-109'073

Income from participations

192'121

652'108

Result from real estate

327'345

317'165

Other ordinary income

96'938

0

Other ordinary expenses
Sub-total: other results from ordinary activities

Net revenues

-54'745

-207'363

1'931'400

652'837

68'567'389

74'775'816

Operating expenses
Personnel expenses

3.17

-46'980'040

-50'920'331

General and administrative expenses

3.18

-11'976'942

-13'402'330

-58'956'982

-64'322'661

-2'099'440

-5'424'032

Changes to provisions and other value adjustments and losses

-6'163'485

59'297

Operating result

1'347'482

5'088'419

659'654

644'216

0

0

Sub-total: operating expenses
Value adjustments on participations and depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets
and intangible assets

Extraordinary income
Extraordinary expenses
Changes in reserves for general banking risks
Taxes
Net profit for the year
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0

-350'000

-1'277'173

-1'932'194

729'963

3'450'441

APPROPRIATION OF PROFITS
Recommendation of the Board of Directors

AMOUNTS IN CHF

2019

2018

Net profit for the year

729'962.60

3'450'441.38

Profit carried forward

20'623'234.12

18'172'792.74

Distributable profit

21'353'196.72

21'623'234.12

Appropriation of profits
- Allocation to statutory retained earnings reserve
- Allocation to voluntary retained earnings reserve

1'000'000.00

- Distribution of distributable profit
New amount carried forward

21'353'196.72

20'623'234.12

STATEMENT OF CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Bank’s
capital

Equity at start
of current period

Capital
reserves

20'000

67'868

Reserves
earnings

41'000

Reserves
for general
banking
risks

48'700

Currency
translation
reserves
for general
banking
risks

Voluntary Own shares
retained
(negative
earnings
item)
reserve
and profit/
loss carried
forward

Minority
interests
(negative
item)

Result for
the period
interests

236'172

3'451

3'451

-3'451

Total

417'191

Currency rate differences
Dividends and other
allocations
Other allocations
to/withdrawals from other
Profit of the period
Equity at the end of
current period

20'000
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67'868

41'000

48'700

239'623

730

730

730

417'921

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Operations and workforce

PKB Privatbank AG is present in Lugano (registered office), where it operates as a
universal bank and in Bellinzona, Geneva, Zurich and Lausanne, where it provides
private banking services.
The Bank's main activities include asset management and all related services, market
making on the primary Swiss franc bond market, currency trading and commercial
business.
At 31.12.2019, the workforce, expressed as FTEs, was 229.65 (2018: 241.75 units).
The bank undertakes all essential activities in-house and does not outsource.
2. Accounting and valuation policies applied to the annual financial statements

Accounting and valuation policies

Foreign funds and currecies

General receivables and commitments
Trading portfolio assets
Financial investments

Participations
Tangible fixed assets

The accounting principles used in the preparation of the annual financial statements
comply with the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks, and the provisions of
the Swiss Financial Markets Supervisory Authority (FINMA) Circular 2015/1
“Accounting Directives - Banks”.
The Bank prepares the statutory single-entity financial statements according to the
principle of reliable representation. The accounts are presented by registration date. The
criteria listed below were adopted.
Valued at year-end rates. Exchange rate differences are recognised in the income
statement under “Results from trading activities and fair value option”. The exchange
rates used for the main currencies were as follows EUR 1,08682 (2018: 1,12661) USD
0,96847 (2018: 0,98397).
Valued at nominal value, net of value adjustments.
Valued at market value.

Equities: valued at market value at the end of the year, but not above purchase price.
Fixed income securities: the difference between the purchase price and the redemption
value is distributed over the years from purchase to maturity.
Valued at purchase price, minus economically necessary amortisation
These are booked at cost minus ordinary and extraordinary depreciation. Depreciation
is applied on a straight-line basis. Works of art valued at less than CHF 30,000.00 are
fully depreciated in the year of purchase, while those valued at over CHF 30,000.00 are
depreciated at a rate of 10% for up to 50% of the purchase cost. All other fixed assets
are shown on the balance sheet at the lower of cost and market value.
Ordinary depreciation periods are as follows:
Properties used by the Bank
Renovations
Plant
Furniture
Equipment and vehicles
Hardware/Software
Intangible assets
* Maximum until the value of the land.
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maximum 50 years
maximum 3 years
maximum 3 years
maximum 3 years
maximum 3 years
maximum 3 years
maximum 5 years

Solvency risks

Where necessary, specific value adjustments are booked and then deducted from their
respective item under assets.

Doubtful interest

Interest and commission over 90 days overdue are not recognised in revenues, but
provisions are made for them. The loans in question are considered non-performing.

Result from trading activities
and the fair value option
Contingent liabilities, irrevocable commitments,

Derivative financial instruments

Criteria applied for identifying
risks of losses and calculating
value adjustments

This is recognised in the income statement before deduction of refinancing costs.

Off-balance sheet transactions are recorded at nominal value. Any provisions for
payment and credit commitment recognised risks are reported under the item
“Provisions”
These are valued at market value, mark-to-market. The Bank’s use of derivative financial
instruments on its own behalf mainly concerns hedging transactions and marginally
trading within the limits established by internal regulation.
Credit files are analysed regularly and at least once a year.
Where necessary depending on the risk, analysis is conducted more frequently and
promptly, particularly for non-performing loans. Value adjustments required for any
portion of the loan not covered by guarantees are recorded immediately.

Collateral assets for loans

Liquidation value is calculated on the basis of market price or realised value, from which the
costs of liquidation and refinancing are deducted.

Risk assessment and management

Risk assessment and management form an integral part of the internal control system, as
required by FINMA Circular 2017/1 «Corporate governance - banks». The Board of
Directors is responsible for the Bank’s internal control system, for which it sets the
guidelines and periodically checks that they are sufficient and operating correctly.
The Board of Directors is supported in its duties by an Audit & Risk Committee, which
advises and makes proposals. The Executive Board is responsible for operational
management, and in turn is supported by the Risk Committee (RICO) and the Compliance
Committee (COCO), responsible for defining the procedures for measuring, managing and
controlling risk for the PKB Group. The RICO and the COCO meet at least every quarter,
and have an integrated Group risk reporting system. Internal Audit checks and assesses
the internal control system, and thereby helps to constantly refine it.
In compliance with current legal requirements, the Bank has produced its own regulations
for the consolidated supervision of the Group and a Risk Appetite Framework Policy. These
set out integrated guidelines for risk assessment and management with which all Group
companies must comply. The risk assessment and management policy, which is examined
every year by the Board of Directors, forms the basis of the Bank’s risk management
process. It is linked to a set of ceilings that cover each identified risk category and are
checked constantly, particularly with regards to the risks set out below.

Credit risk
Credit risk is regulated by the Board of Directors through the Credit Policy and the PKB
Group Credit Regulation. The Executive Board manages credit risk through the Credit
Committee (COCR), which supervises the application of company strategies, and
analyses, in terms of quality and quantity, the solvency of counterparties and their
respective guarantees.
Credit risk is controlled by limiting risk and exposure at PKB Group level, by limiting
concentration of risk in counterparty groups (large exposures and 20 largest exposures)
and by country. Delcredere and country risk are subject to special provisions.
Supervisory capital requirements for credit risk are calculated using the international
method, with a comprehensive approach to the treatment of guarantees.
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Market risk (balance sheet)
The market risk on balance sheet assets is governed by the Risk Appetite Framework Policy
with the definition of risk appetite and risk tolerance and by the Asset&Liability
Management Policy of the PKB Group approved by the Board of Directors. The Executive
Board supervises market risk through the Asset&Liability Committee (ALCO).
The interest rate risk, calculated through the Economic Value of Equity and the Net Interest
Income , is based on the standardized interest rate shock scenarios according to Circular
FINMA 2019/2 (attachment 2). The interest rate risk for customers loans or mortgages
are hedged mainly with Interest Rate Swaps according to Accounting rules and applying
the hedge accounting principles. Exchange rate risk is hedged mainly by forward rate
agreements and currency options.
Market risk (trading portfolio)
Trading portfolio management is governed by the Risk Appetite Framework Policy
with the definition of risk appetite and risk tolerance and through the PKB Group
Trading Policy approved by the Board of Directors and by directives approved by the
Executive Board. The Bank is a Market Maker on the primary CHF bond market, and
also operates on the forex, bond and equity markets.
The trading portfolio market risk is controlled using a system of exposure limits, the
results of which are reported to the Executive Board.
Supervisory capital requirements for market risk are calculated using the standard
method, with a delta-plus approach for options.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is regulated by the Board of Directors through the Risk Appetite
Framework Policy with the definition of risk appetite and risk tolerance, through the
Asset&Liability Management Policy and the Liquidity Regulation, both valid at PKB Group
level. The Executive Board supervises and manages liquidity risk through ALCO.
Liquidity risk is supervised in accordance with legal requirements and the results of checks
are reported in ALCO.
Operational risk
Operational risk, which includes legal and compliance risks, is managed by the Board of
Directors through the PKB Group’s Operational Policy and the Group Legal&Compliance
Policy, as well as implementing regulations, while the Executive Board also issues directives
on operational risk management.
The strategy and business model adopted expose the Group to the following main types
of operational risk defined by FINMA Circular 2008/21 «Operational risks - banks»:
- Internal fraud: losses due to acts carried out with fraudulent intentions,
misappropriation of goods, circumvention of laws, regulations or internal provisions
with implication of at least a part internal to the company;
- External fraud: losses due to acts carried out with fraudulent intentions,
misappropriation of goods, circumvention of laws or regulations without implication of
an internal part of the company;
- Clients, products and business practices: losses arising from non-intentional or
negligent non-fulfillment of obligations towards customers and losses deriving from the
type or structure of certain products;
- Execution, delivery and management of processes: losses deriving from errors in the
execution of activities or in the management of processes and losses deriving from
relations with commercial partners and suppliers;
- Business interruptions, system failures and damage to physical assets: losses deriving
from business interruptions or problems with technical systems and deriving from
damage to physical assets due to natural disasters or other events.
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The assessment of operational risks is supported by an analysis of the critical areas
present in the processes and activities carried out by the Group entities, while for the
measurement of the current operational risk the Group uses a system of quantitative
and qualitative indicators provided by the Risk Appetite Framework Policy and the
minimum standards and key controls in the area of operational risk, which include the
calculation of capital requirements according to the basic indicator approach, the
analysis of operational losses, the analysis of Key Risk Indicators and the risk selfassessment. Specific provisions for operational risk are provided.
Operational risk management and mitigation is carried out through the following
distribution of tasks and responsibilities:
- First line of defence: owner of operational risks generated by business activities and
responsible for managing operational risks;
- Second line of defence (Group Risk Management): responsible for consolidated
supervision of the Group's operational risk.
Operational risk is monitored primarily through the verification of the qualitative and
quantitative indicators defined in the Risk Appetite Framework Policy and through the
verification of the minimum standards and key controls in the area of operational risk.
Group Risk Management also ensures a quarterly report to the CRO and RICO.
Legal risk
To prevent risks, the Bank ensures that its operations, particularly those likely to have an
impact on the outside world, are in line with the legal requirements and ethical standards
applying to the banking sector, and that operations and contracts involving clients are
comprehensible and transparent.
Reputational and compliance risk
Unlike compliance risks, which concern only the breach of laws and regulations, damage
to reputation can be caused by such a break or even by behaviour that the public
considers inappropriate or unacceptable, even though it is fully compliant with the law
and regulations. In order to take into account the wide range of reputational risks, Banca
PKB has produced a Charter of Values, designed to support a corporate culture based
on impeccable conduct and leading professional standards.
Compliance risks are managed through a whole series of policies and procedures that
cover all the Bank’s areas of business. Given the international nature of our business,
internal rules go beyond the Swiss legal and regulatory framework, and address all crossborder activities and issues relevant to the way we serve our clients, in particular in the
areas of investment advisory services and trading on foreign financial markets.
Strict compliance with the law, standards and internal regulations is assured through a
three-level control programme. The main responsibility for compliance with all these
rules lies with the line manager. The first level of control is mainly based on process and
workflow checks to ensure compliance with the Group’s four-eyes principle, and on an
escalation system. Ongoing training for staff at all levels is an integral part of our efforts
to mitigate reputational and compliance risks. The second level of control includes
independent checks by operating department Legal & Compliance, which reports to the
Executive Board. Risks are assessed once a year and a specific action plan is produced
to ensure compliance risks are addressed promptly and correctly. The third level of
control includes audits performed by Internal Audit, which is not an operating
department and reports to the Board of Directors. Internal Audit also carries out
independent controls.

Bank policy on the use of derivative
financial financial instruments
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Positions taken in derivatives are, in general, held on behalf of clients. The Bank
makes use of interest rate risk hedging transactions for the structural management of
the balance sheet, through interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements.

Significant events following the
end of the financial year

Changes in accounting principles
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Covid-19 pandemic
The recent and dramatic developments linked to the Covid-19 pandemic are generating
repercussions for the Bank, especially in terms of credit risk, market risk and operational
risk. In this context, the Executive Board is addressing significant attention to ensure that
adequate and timely enhancement of supervisory activities is guaranteed to allow prompt
implementation of the related mitigation and risk containment measures.As regards to
credit risk, the Covid-19 pandemic has caused significant turbulence in the world
financial markets with a consequent reduction in liquidity on the bond markets and this
has forced a strengthening of the risk monitoring activities relating to the risk generated
by Lombard loans. The close monitoring activity allows to promptly identify any
deterioration of collateral with consequent requests for restoration of guarantees. The
same attention is paid to the institutional credit risk of the financial investment portfolio
as well as to the market risk of the trading portfolio for which scrupulous compliance
with the Risk Appetite and Risk Tolerance levels is guaranteed. These risk levels are
defined in the PKB Group's Risk Appetite Framework Policy approved by the PKB
Board of Directors.
The sudden materialization of the pandemic risk finally increased the level of operational
risk. The Bank has implemented and strengthened the emergency plans provided for in
its General Continuity Plan in order to protect resources and ensure the continuity of
the operational processes of all essential services.
As regards liquidity and interest rate risk, the risk appetite levels have not been
significantly impacted.
Lastly, as part of the three-year capital planning, appropriate stress scenarios were
developed on collateral pledges for Lombard loans, on financial investments and on the
Bank's trading portfolio. The Bank would be able to maintain adequate capital levels
while the income capacity would clearly be reduced proportionally if these scenarios may
occur.
In this regard, it should be noted that at the moment the economic impact is difficult to
quantify given the difficulty in estimating the continuation of the duration of the crisis
and its global extension.
No changes whithin the 2019 financial year.

3. Details on individual positions in the notes to the financial statements
3.1 Presentation of loan collateral and off-balance sheet
transactions, as well as impaired loans/receivable

TYPE OF COLLATERAL

TOTAL

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Secured by
mortgage

Other
collateral

Unsecured

Loans (before netting with value adjustments)
Amounts due from customers

62'264

Mortgage loans

379'416

16'061

457'742

731'472

731'472

- Residential property

539'123

539'123

- Office and business premises

121'855

121'855

- Commercial and industrial premises

20'300

20'300

- Other

50'193

50'193

Total loans (prior netting with value adjustments)
Current financial year

793'736

379'416

16'061

1'189'214

Previous financial year

934'939

406'487

19'027

1'360'452

Current financial year

792'886

366'471

16'061

1'175'418

Previous financial year

934'939

386'056

19'027

1'340'022

535

43'410

2'670

46'615

2'363

634

5'291

8'288

5'451

5'451

Loans (after netting with value adjustments)

Off-balance sheet
Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable commitments
Obligation to pay-up shares and make further contribution
Off-balance sheet total
Current financial year

2'898

44'043

13'412

60'353

Previous financial year

7'417

37'438

11'956

56'811

Impaired loans
Gross debt

Estimated
realizable
value of
collateral

Net debt

Individual
value
adjustments

Current financial year

26'495

13'055

13'440

13'796

Previous financial year

32'202

11'706

20'495

20'430

3.2 Breakdown of trading portfolio and other financial instruments at fair value (assets and liabilities)
No position at 31.12.2019 or at 31.12.2018
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3.3

Presentation of derivative
financial instruments
(assets and liabilities)

INSTRUMENTS HELD
FOR TRADING

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Positive

Negative

HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

Contract

Positive

replacement replacement volume
values
values
Interest rate instrum ents

17'617

Forward contracts

14'362

314'840

1

1

208

8'507

5'253

111'163

Options (OTC)

9'108

9'108

203'469

572

7'411

893'115

67

75

9'782

506

7'337

883'333

Current financial year

18'189

21'773

1'207'955

Previous financial year

7'777
11'129
784'086
Positive replacement values

Forward contracts
Combined interest rate/currency swaps

Contract

replacement replacement volume
values
values

Swaps
Foreign exchange / Precious m etals

Negative

152

16'245

230'475

152

12'718

208'375

3'526

22'100

16'245

230'475

Options (OTC)
Equity securities/indices
Options (OTC)
Total before netting agreem ent

Total after netting

152

1'309
8'048
278'518
Negative replacement values

Current financial year

18'340

38'018

Previous financial year

9'085

19'177

Central clearing houses

Breakdow n by counterparty
Positive replacement values (after netting agreements)

Banks and securities
Other customers
dealers
18'187

153

Hedging instruments pursuant to 431 FINMA Circular 2015/1

3.4

Breakdown of financial investments

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Debt securities
of which intended to be held to maturity
of which not intended to be held to maturity

Book value

Fair value

2019

2018

2019

2018

89'252

110'844

90'947

111'730

88'670

110'844

90'362

111'730

582

Equity securities

7'192

of which qualified participations
Precious metals
Real estate

1'373

585
10'206

9'112

12'179

1'373

Total

96'444

121'050

100'059

123'909

of which securities eligible for pensions under liquidity rules

27'350

31'162

27'991

31'364

Breakdow n of counterparties by rating
From AAA
up to AA–
Debt securities: Book values

49'506
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From A+
up to A–
7'751

From BBB+ From BB+
up to BBB– up to B–
7'762

9'713

Less than
B–

No rating
15

14'504

3.5

Breakdown of other assets and other liabilities

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Other assets
Compensation account

Other
liabilities

10'353

Indirect taxes
Pure clearing accounts

Other assets
4'959

456

496
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1'240

1'701

1'843

2'510

2'156

7'311

13

Total

Other
liabilities

478

Other assets and liabilities

3.6

2018

12'084

13

Disclosure of assets pledged or assigned to secure own
commitments and assets under reservation of ownership

3'063

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Effective commitments

Book values
Assets pledged / assigned
Margin accounts

35'084

35'084

Bonds used as collateral to banks

27'350

27'350

176'949

110'800

Mortgages used to guarantee loans from central mortgage bond institutions

3.7

Disclosure of liabilities relating to own pension schemes, and
number and nature of equity instruments of the bank held by
own pension schemes

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Total

2019
18'254

2018
21'913

The Bank’s employees are registered with an autonomous and independent pension fund in accordance with the law on occupational pensions in
Switzerland (LPP). Regulations require the use of defined contributions schemes. Pension liabilities are calculated each year by an actuary. The Bank
accounts for its contributions to the employees’ occupational pension scheme as expenses for the financial year concerned.

3.8

Disclosure on the economic situation of own pension schemes

Employer contribution reserves (ECR)

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Nominal
value at
31.12.2019

LPP pension fund for employees of PKB Privatbank AG
Totale

Presentation of the economic benefit/
bligation and the pension expenses

Waiver at
31.12.2019

Net
amount at
31.12.2019

Net
amount at
31.12.2018

1'300

1'300

1'300

1'300

1'300

1'300

Impact of ECR on
personnel expenses
2019

2018

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Overfunding/ Economic share of the bank
underfunding and/or the financial group
at
31.12.2019
2019

Pension fund

Change in
economic
share in
reporting
year

Contribution Pension charges within
s paid for the personnel expenses
reporting
period

2018

2019

With overfunding

18'718

4'711

4'289

Total

18'718

4'711

4'289

2018
4'748

For each pension plan, the Bank must determine whether reserve levels and the particular circumstances of the pension fund give rise to a surplus or a
shortfall. The assessment is based on the financial position at 31 December 2018 and the change in the financial position over 2019.
Based on the estimates received from the pension fund, the reserve levels in accordance with art. 44 OPP2 (Ordinanza sulla previdenza professionale
– Occupational Pension Order) were 111.8% (2018: 109.2%).
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3.9 Presentation of value adjustments, provisions, reserves for general banking risks and changes
therein during the current year
Balance at
31.12.2018

Use in
conformity

Transfers

with
designated
purpose

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Currency
rate

Past due
interest,

New
provisions

Releases to
the income

differences

recoveries

charged to
the income
statement

statement

Balance at
31.12.2019

Other provisions

23'420

-3'732

7'108

-1'244

25'552

Total provisions

23'420

-3'732

7'108

-1'244

25'552

Reserves for general banking risks

48'700

48'700

Value adjustment for
default and country risks

21'035

-7'819

-926

-54

2'164

14'400

of which, value adjustments for default
risks in respect of impaired loans/receivables

20'431

-7'819

-926

-54

2'164

13'796

of which value adjustments
for latent risks

604

604

The item “Other provisions” includes CHF 10.2 million allocated to the retention plan, CHF 14.5 million for legal/fiscal risks and CHF 0.8 million to
hedge country risk. Contingent liabilities whose outcome can be estimated were allocated on the basis of the best available estimate.

3.10 Presentation of bank’s capital

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2018

Total

Number of

Capital

Total

Number of

Capital

nominal

ordinary

eligible for

nominal

shares

eligible for

value

shares

dividend

value

dividend

Share capital (full paid)

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

Total share capital

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

20'000

At 31.12.2019 and at 31.12.2018, there were no voluntary restrictions on the distributable nature of reserves.

3.11 Disclosure of amounts
due from/to related parties
commitments and assets under reservation of
ownership due from/to related parties

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

AMOUNTS DUE
FROM
Current year

Holders of qualified participations
Group companies

Previous year

Current year

Previous year

4721

998

24'329

15'569

11'410

3'613

148'211

80'436

1

4'158

4'216

2'226

1'802

10'072

2'162

10'103

41'312

Affiliates
Transactions with members of governing bodies

AMOUNTS DUE TO

1'903

Other related parties

Loans to members of governing bodies are granted under the same conditions applied to Bank employees.
Transactions with affiliates are conducted under arm’s length conditions, and relate to securities transactions, payment traffic and treasury transactions.

3.12 Disclosure of holders of significant participations

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000
Nominal

with voting rights: Auriga SA, Luxembourg

20'000

2018
%

Nominal
100.00

20'000

%
100.00

There is no conditional capital, and there are no significant shareholders without voting rights.
Luxembourg company Auriga S.A. holds 100% of the Bank’s share capital. The voting rights of the latter are controlled indirectly, for 51.84%, by the
family of the late Serafino Trabaldo Togna. Further significant shareholdings are held by the heirs of the late Achille Trabaldo Togna and Piero
Trabaldo Togna.”
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3.13 Breakdown of total assets by credit rating of
country groups (risk domicile) paesi (localizzazione del rischio)
Bank’s country rating

Moody’s

1-2

Aaa – Aa3

3

A1 – A3

4

Baa1 – Baa3

5

Ba1 – Ba3

6

B1 – B3

7
0

Net foreign exposure at
31.12.2019
in CHF/000

Net foreign exposure
at 31.12.2018

%

in CHF/000

%

526'132

94.3%

583'626

91.2%

1'820

0.3%

1'120

0.2%

11'741

2.1%

25'263

3.9%

13'873

2.5%

736

0.1%

1'912

0.3%

3'639

0.6%

Caa1 – C

501

0.1%

1

0.0%

No rating

1'737

0.3%

25'437

4.0%

557'715

100%

639'822

100%

Total assets

The Bank measures country risk using Swiss Export Risk Insurance (SERV) ratings. These are compared with Moody’s ratings in the table above.

3.14 Breakdown of fiduciary transactions

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Fiduciary investments with other banks

221'309

151'740

Fiduciary investments with Group banks and affiliated banks
Fiduciary loans

101'538

3'302

Total fiduciary transactions

322'847

155'042

3.15 Breakdown of managed assets and presentation of their development
a) Breakdown managed assets

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

Type of asset
Assets held in self-managed collective investment schemes

616'061

636'787

Asset under discretionary asset management agreements

2'584'968

2'591'775

Other managed assets

3'890'939

3'681'058

7'091'968

6'909'620

467'282

463'538

91'361

80'631

Sub-total managed assets (incl. double counting)
of which double counting
Commercial clients – Custody only
Sub-total: other client assets
Total client assets (incl. double counting)
b) Presentation of the development of managed
assets

Total managed assets (incl. double counting) at start of period
+ / - Net new money inflow or net new money outflow
+ / - Change in market prices, interest, dividends and exchange rates
+ /- Other effects*
Total managed assets (incl. double counting) at end of period

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

91'361

80'631

7'183'328

6'990'251

2019

2018

6'909'620

7'696'229

-103'584

-113'229

295'672

-518'660

-9'740

-154'720

7'091'968

6'909'620

* At 31.12.2019, the item «Other effects» corresponds to the outflow of Tredia Sub-Funds from the managed funds perimeter.
Other managed assets includes all client assets (private, commercial and institutional) held for investment on which the Bank receives commission
and/or fees in addition to custody fees and other account-keeping expenses.
All other assets held in custody by the Bank that do not meet the above criteria are considered “custody only”. The breakdown complies with the
provisions of FINMA Circular 2015/1.
Assets under management are client assets managed in accordance with the profile chosen by the client. Receivables due from clients are not deducted
from total managed assets.
Net contributions/withdrawals include actual inflows and outflows of client funds and assets but do not include the performance of securities or
currencies, interest, charges, commission or dividends.
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3.16 Breakdown of the result from trading activities and the fair value option
a) Breakdown by business area
(Based on the organisation of the bank and/or the financial group)

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Trading with mixed transactions

2019

2018

8'264

b) Breakdown by underlying risk and application
of the fair value option

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

6'040

2018

Result from trading activities from:
- Interest rate instruments

1'980

1'440

- Equity securities (incl. funds)

1'777

-28

- Currencies

4'477

4'581

- Commodities/precious metals

28

47

Total result from trading activities

8'264

6'040

3.17 Breakdown of personnel expenses

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

Remuneration (attendance fees, fixed compensation to members of the Bank’s governing bodies, salaries and
allowances)
Benefits
Other personnel expenses
Total personnel expenses

3.18 Breakdown of general and administrative
expenses

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2019

2018

37'213

40'146

7'812

8'525

1'955
46'980

2'249
50'920

2019

2018

Building occupancy expenses

1'803

1'883

IT and telecommunications technology expenses

2'289

2'360

Expenses for vehicles, equipment, furniture and other fixtures, and operating leases

135

133

Audit fees (art. 961a no. 2 CO)

334

472

334

472

7'417
11'977

8'554
13'402

- of which for accounting and supervisory audits
- of which other services
Sundry operating expenses
Total other operating expenses

3.19 Explanations concerning material losses, extraordinary revenue and expenses, material releases from undisclosed
reserves, reserves for general banking risks and value adjustments and freed provisions
The extraordinary income is mainly due to the revaluation of Anthilia SA following the reclassification from the participation portfolio to the financial
investmens portfolio.

3.20 Presentation of current taxes, deferred
taxes, and disclosure of tax rate

2019

AMOUNTS IN CHF/000

2018

Tax rate
Current tax expense *

13.3%

Extraordinary elements
Total tax

Tax Rate
1'277
1'277

* Average weighted rate applied to operating profit.
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18.5%

1'932
1'932
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Report of the Statutory Auditor
To the General Meeting of Shareholders of
PKB PRIVATBANK SA, Lugano
Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of PKB PRIVATBANK SA, which
comprise the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity and notes
(pages 46 - 60 of the financial report) for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control
system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 comply with
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.
Other matter
The financial statements of PKB PRIVATBANK SA for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
audited by another auditor, whose unmodified opinion was issued on 24 April 2019.

PKB PRIVATBANK SA
Report of the Statutory Auditor on the
Financial Statements to the General
meeting of shareholders
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Report on Other Legal Requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor
Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are
no circumstances incompatible with our independence.
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.
We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements
submitted to you be approved.
Deloitte SA

Alexandre Buga

Pietro Di Fluri

Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in charge

Licensed Audit Expert

Lugano, 25 March 2020
AB/PDF/dbo
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Via S. Balestra 1
6900 Lugano
Switzerland
Telephone
+41-91 913 35 35
Internet
www.pkb.ch

Registered office / Executive Board

Geneva

12, Rue Charles-Galland
1206 Geneva

Branch

Switzerland
Telephone

+41-22 346 91 55

Zurich

Tödistrasse 47
8002 Zurich
Switzerland
Telephone
+41-44 204 34 34

Branch

Bellinzona

Viale Stazione 4
6500 Bellinzona
Switzerland
Telephone
+41-91 874 33 33

Branch

Lausanne

Place Saint-François 7
1003 Lausanne
Switzerland
Telephone
+41 21 343 36 36

Branch

Alasia SA

Corso Elvezia 25
6900 Lugano
Svizzera
Telephone
+41 91 223 22 70
Internet
www.pkbalasia.ch

Subsidiary

PKB Servizi Fiduciari S.p.A.

Via A. Manzoni 12/14
20121 Milan
Italy
Telephone
+39 02 760 241 58
Internet
www.pkbservizifiduciari.it

Subsidiary

PKB Banca Privada (Panamá) SA

Tower Financial Center
Piso 49, Calle 50 y Calle Elvira Méndez
Panamá , Republica de Panama
Telephone
+507 294 07 00
Internet
www.pkb.com.pa

Subsidiary

Cassa Lombarda S.p.A.

Manzoni, 12/14
20121 Milan
Italy
Telephone
+39 02 77 99 1
Internet
www.cassalombarda.it

Subsidiary

63

